

The Climate Benefits of Degraded Lands Reclamation and Restoration



The Climate Benefits of Degraded Lands Reclamation and Restoration

Copyright © 2022 National Wildlife Federation

Lead Authors: Lindsay Kuczera, Jessica Arriens, and Portia Bharath

We appreciate the work and dedication to conservation of all National Wildlife Federation staff and our affiliate partners, who help make efforts like this possible. In particular, we would like to thank the following for their contributions to this report: Shannon Heyck-Williams, David DeGennaro, Corina Newsome, Julie Sibbing, Edie Juno, Bailey Brennan, Ross Griffin, and David Willms. We also thank our partners on the RECLAIM coalition for their leadership, research, and advocacy on reclamation and their guidance on this report.

Suggested citation: Kuczera, L., Arriens, J., and Bharath, P. 2022. *The Climate Benefits of Degraded Land Reclamation and Restoration*, Washington, D.C.: National Wildlife Federation.

Cover image: The Kennecott Mines National Historic Landmark is an abandoned copper mine in south-central Alaska. The National Park Service has identified buildings that need rehabilitation, stabilization, and potential cleanup actions. Photo: Melinda Podor/Getty Images



National Wildlife Federation 1200 G Street, NW, Suite 900 Washington, D.C. 20005 www.nwf.org



Homes surround an oil well pad pump jack in Frederick, Colorado. Photo: Milehightraveler/Getty Images

Table of Contents

Introduction1
Degraded Lands Defined
Abandoned Mine Lands2
Oil and Gas Wells2
Brownfield and Superfund Sites
Degraded Lands and the Climate
Climate Benefits
Key Principles for Climate-Informed Degraded Lands Reclamation5
Reclaimed Mine Lands
Orphaned Oil & Gas Wells
Brownfields
Superfund Sites
Economic Opportunities
Community Benefits
Policy Recommendations
Conclusion
References

i.



A restored Superfund site along the Sheboygan River in Wisconsin. Photo: Cavan Images/Getty Images

Introduction

limate change is the most urgent and intersectional challenge facing global society today. It has impacted the lives of billions of people and will continue to alter our physical¹ and psychological² health for decades to come. Our fossil fuel dependency, which drives climate change, has also left its physical mark on the landscape. Extractive activities like oil and gas production and hardrock mining tend to be destructive processes that leave land degraded and wildlife at risk. For example, one study found that coal bed methane production was directly linked to an 82 percent decline in Wyoming's Powder River Basin sage grouse population between 2001 and 2005.³ These degraded lands come with a cost that falls heavily on frontline communities and wildlife. Clean air and water are compromised, and the carbon sequestration

potential of these degraded lands is often rendered obsolete. Reclaiming and restoring degraded lands is crucial to improve human and ecological health and help tackle climate change. Reducing dependence on fossil fuels while enhancing carbon storage in forests, wetlands, grasslands, and other nature-based solutions is essential to effectively address the climate crisis and increase climate stability across the globe.

The National Wildlife Federation acknowledges the myriad of environmental and health issues associated with degraded lands. This report highlights current information about the climate benefits of reclamation⁴ and related investments and makes policy suggestions based on that knowledge.



Degraded Lands Defined

D egraded land is a broad term used to describe land that has lost some measure of its natural productivity due to human activities. Under this definition, many types of land could be described as degraded: agricultural lands, clear-cut forests, dredged or filled wetlands, landfills, mine lands, and more. Almost all human development and infrastructure inevitably changes the natural productivity of the land. This report focuses on lands that have supported extractive industry such as abandoned mine lands and orphaned oil and gas wells, and lands that pose hazards to people and wildlife due to contamination, such as brownfields and Superfund sites. Below is a brief discussion of each type of degraded land.

Abandoned Mine Lands

Abandoned mine lands (AMLs) are lands that once supported coal mines and hardrock mines—mines

that extract metals and ores such as gold and copper—that are no longer operational and in varying degrees of abandonment and reclamation. This makes documentation quite difficult. One source⁵ holds that as of 2015, there were about 48,529 abandoned coal mines in the U.S., but this number may be inaccurate due to inconsistencies in data reporting. As for hardrock mines, there were approximately 500,000 in 2016, according to the House Committee on Natural Resources.⁶ Most authorized coal and hardrock mine operations use up to 1,000 acres⁷ per operation.

Oil and Gas Wells

Abandoned oil and gas wells are extraction sites that have been improperly plugged or not plugged at all. With an estimated 3.4 million abandoned wells in the U.S.,⁸ these sites pose severe environmental and public health risks. Orphaned



The Carrie Furnace steel mill in Pittsburgh Pennsylvania is now a National Historic Landmark and has been undergoing redevelopment. Photo: catnap72/Getty Images

oil and gas wells are a subset of this category, in which the wells have unknown or negligent owners and operators. Similar to abandoned mine lands, orphaned oil and gas wells exist in varying stages of abandonment and reclamation. Bankrupt owners often leave an extraction site unsealed with no plans of properly closing operations and restoring the land. A geospatial analysis from the Environmental Defense Fund in partnership with McGill University documents the location of 81,000 documented orphaned wells across just 28 states, showing heavy well concentration in Appalachia, the Midwest, Oklahoma, the Gulf Coast, and southern California.⁹ The research also shows that many Americans live in close proximity to these documented wells-around 9 million live within a mile of one.

Brownfield and Superfund Sites

A brownfield is a piece of land compromised by the presence or potential presence of a hazardous substance, pollutant, or contaminant. Redevelopment of contaminated lands is typically a challenge and often requires an injection of funding to clean the land up to standards for reuse. Brownfields that are most commonly eligible for federal funding fall under three categories: sites contaminated by petroleum or a petroleum product, sites contaminated by controlled substances, and mine-scarred lands. The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) estimates that there are over 450,000 brownfield sites in the United States.¹⁰

The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA), established in 1980, is commonly known as Superfund. This act allocates funds for the EPA to clean up contaminated sites when there is no apparent responsible party. The National Priorities List (NPL) documents the nation's worst contaminated sites that have known or threatened releases of hazardous substances and serves as a guide to the EPA on which sites need investigation or cleaning. As of July 2022, the EPA identified 1,333 NPL sites and 43 proposed sites. The NPL fluctuates as site conditions improve to established standards.¹¹ Superfund sites tend to have worse contamination than brownfields, and will involve the EPA for cleanup, whereas brownfields are typically abandoned commercial and industrial lots that are intended for reuse.



A Great Blue Heron crosses the pond at Atlas Tack Superfund site in Fairhaven, Massachusetts. Photo: Danlogan/Getty Images

Degraded Lands and the Climate

The Working Group II contribution to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change released in February 2022 affirms that the window of opportunity to make climate-adaptive changes is quickly closing.¹² It states with high confidence that "the resilience of species, biological communities, and ecosystem processes increases with the size of natural areas, by restoration of degraded areas, and by reducing non-climatic stressors."

The National Wildlife Federation considers investments in degraded lands reclamation an

integral part of the climate solution and one with many co-benefits in addition to carbon sequestration. Degraded lands are more vulnerable to erosion, weathering, leaching, decomposition, and dangerous combustion, and therefore release carbon dioxide, methane, and other hazardous gasses. With proper management, these lands have the potential to sequester millions of tons of carbon dioxide annually as new and restored forests, grasslands, shrublands, and soils.¹³ One report finds that for every \$1 invested in land restoration, anywhere from \$7 to \$30 dollars can be returned in the form of improved food production, water quality, and carbon sequestration.¹⁴



Family planting a tree together. Photo: Jose Luis Please Inc/Getty Images

Climate Benefits

Key Principles for Climate-Informed Degraded Lands Reclamation

egraded land reclamation can look different depending on the area and the goal for the reclaimed land. The net benefits of restoration vary by ecoregion and the status of restorable sites, and taking these ecological and environmental factors into account when developing restoration and reclamation plans is crucial. The following principles can help policymakers, community leaders, and local and state government and natural resource technicians strategize the best process and use of their project sites. • Prioritize restoration of ecologically appropriate habitat types, which will create favorable plant and wildlife habitats that can also sequester carbon and increase climate resilience.

• Prioritize sufficient pollution assessment and cleanup activities before establishing new wildlife habitat or community use of formerly contaminated sites. This will protect the health and safety of people and wildlife.

• Afforestation efforts (i.e., planting trees in areas not historically in forest cover) should focus on severely degraded lands that do not border remaining naturally treeless systems such as native grasslands and shrublands, which also sequester

carbon and support a range of important social and ecological values. Afforestation can contribute to meeting climate goals when implemented properly and with caution.

• Plant native grasses in areas where growing trees is difficult. Native grasses can stabilize soils, store carbon, and begin to rebuild organic matter in the soil, which supports more diverse plant communities in the future.

• Consider prioritizing phytoremediation techniques wherever possible. Phytoremediation is a process in which carefully selected plant species are planted on degraded lands to remove harmful soil contaminants. These techniques are often cost-effective and can sequester carbon. It can help cleanse potentially toxic elements from contaminated soil and water caused by legacy hardrock mining. In brownfields, phytoremediation using trees can reduce stormwater runoff and local flooding, and act as a living barrier to noise and air pollution.

• Reclamation priorities and plans should be created with the input of local communities, especially frontline and fenceline communities already coping with high pollution burden and increased climate vulnerability. Robust and meaningful community engagement will help ensure reclamation efforts deliver longerterm economic development in some of the most climate-, energy-, and economicallydistressed regions.

Following these principles can help ensure degraded lands are reclaimed in a way that benefits the environment and communities longterm. However, every degraded land site has a different set of challenges and environmental and social impacts and requires individual assessment and monitoring as detailed below.

Reclaimed Mine Lands

Responsible land use and land management practices play a significant role in enhancing soil organic carbon (SOC) sequestration in reclaimed mined lands.¹⁵ Carbon sequestration in soils happens when biomass decomposes and soil organic carbon pools gradually accumulate. If these soils are properly reclaimed and managed, carbon storage can be enhanced. Since the distribution of organic carbon in coal-contaminated mine lands can vary greatly, thorough sampling must be done to obtain an adequate measure of SOC before and after restoration.

As carbon dioxide assimilates into both aboveground biomass and soil organic matter, reclaimed lands can be a significant sink for atmospheric CO2.¹⁶ A 2012 study that analyzed how time affected carbon sequestration in three West Virginia minesoils found that reclamation can have near-term benefits.¹⁷ While SOC stocks were highest in the oldest minesoils, the study estimated that 75 percent of that SOC storage was achieved in the first decade after reclamation.¹⁸

Carbon sequestration in soils happens when biomass decomposes and soil organic carbon pools gradually accumulate. If these soils are properly reclaimed and managed, carbon storage can be enhanced. In general, higher rates of SOC sequestration are observed for minesoils under pasture and grassland management than under forest land use.¹⁹ One study in southeast Ohio evaluated the impact of native prairie restoration on a prior mine land and found evidence that this method could be more beneficial than planting shallow-rooting cool-season grasses, which are typically used in reclamation.²⁰ Native prairie vegetation has deeper roots, and thus may improve soil health at greater depths. Warm-season prairies can also provide habitat and high-quality nectar for endemic wildlife and pollinators, and be used as grazing land. Typically, the older a prairie is, the more abundant its vegetation and robust its ecosystem benefits.

Reforestation or afforestation on reclaimed mined land has major carbon sequestration potential. If 25 percent of unreclaimed AML acreage were reforested, these lands could potentially sequester



The New Cornelia mine is a currently inactive open-pit copper mine in Pima County, Arizona. Photo: Steve Proehl/Getty Images

232,000 metric tons of CO2 annually—about as much as is emitted from powering 40,000 homes for a year.²¹ The Forest Resources Association further estimates that an acre of young forest in Appalachia can sequester 1.6 metric tons of carbon per year.²²

Reclaimed abandoned mine lands can also provide essential services to people and wildlife. Native forests can increase soil water retention, reduce flooding, and minimize pollution and sediment runoff. Reclaiming these lands can also help increase climate resilience, of crucial importance in Appalachia, which is expected to see increased flooding due to climate change. The poor soils and loss of vegetation on former mine lands likely makes the impacts of flooding worse:²³ one 2019 analysis found that heavily strip-mined areas of the Ohio River Basin were also the most threatened by extreme weather due to climate change.²⁴ The 2022 flooding in eastern Kentucky, and parts of Virginia and West Virginia, underscores the potentially devastating intersections between climate-induced flooding and disturbed mineland. More research is needed to better understand this intersection.²⁵

Orphaned Oil & Gas Wells

The EPA estimates that there are around 3.4 million abandoned wells, including orphaned wells and other non-producing wells.²⁶ These wells emit roughly 280,000 metric tons of methane annually, according to the EPA. Methane is a super-pollutant capable of trapping more planet-altering heat than carbon dioxide. Per ton, methane can have 81-83 times the global warming potential (GWP) of carbon dioxide over the first 20 years after emitted.²⁷ Methane is also emitted alongside volatile organic compounds and hazardous air pollutants like benzene.²⁸



An old, orphaned oil well pump in a farm field. Photo: JJ Gouin/Getty Images

Plugging abandoned and orphaned wells would have significant impacts on reducing carbon dioxide, methane, and other harmful gasses that leak unnecessarily into the atmosphere and environment. This would provide immediate climate and community benefits by mitigating emissions, reducing air and water pollution, protecting biodiversity, and creating jobs.

One study estimated that the value of carbon sequestration and agricultural benefits combined from restoring eligible abandoned and orphaned oil and gas wells over 50 years to be \$21.3 billion, with the cost of restoration around \$6.9 billion – a 3:1 benefit-cost ratio.²⁹ Agricultural techniques such as sustainable farming, agroforestry, and responsible grazing help prevent further soil and land degradation; they can also provide additional economic and food security benefits to impacted communities. Even on its own, carbon sequestration at these restored sites over a 50year period is valued at \$7.3 billion, in addition to unquantifiable benefits to improving air and water quality, public health, and slowing climate change.

Brownfields

The expansion, redevelopment, or reuse of a brownfield may be difficult due to the presence of hazardous contaminants and pollutants. While redevelopment is often the goal of brownfield remediation, there is evidence to show that managed brownfield soils can also sequester carbon and provide other environmental and social benefits.

A study done on 20 brownfield sites in England found that the fine material in soils occurring after concrete demolition can aid in atmospheric carbon sequestration, with uptake rates highest in the first 15 years after demolition and with a removal rate of 4–59 tons of CO2 per hectare per year.³⁰ The study mentions the lack of information and research on this process and stresses the need for its consideration in carbon mitigation policies. Considering the U.S. has more than 450,000 brownfields—ranging in size from less than an acre to several thousand acres—carbon removal by urban soils should be examined as a natural



Manhattan's High Line Park was once an elevated railway and was redeveloped for open public space. Photo: Aretem Vorobiev/Getty Images

carbon management strategy. Trees planted on brownfield land, as part of a phytoremediation strategy, can also aid in carbon sequestration, and possibly help cool urban heat islands.³¹

Brownfield cleanup comes with other indirect climate benefits too. By cleaning up and redeveloping these sites instead of developing green spaces or other productive lands, communities avoid an increase in impervious surfaces, which can lead to runoff, waterway pollution, and hotter temperatures. In cities, impervious surfaces such as pavement and buildings create what is known as the urban heat island effect, making urban areas anywhere from 1 to 7 degrees Fahrenheit warmer than outlying areas in the daytime. Areas with an abundance of impervious surfaces absorb and retain greater amounts of heat, and exhibit decreased cooling effects that might otherwise come from evaporation and plant transpiration in a more vegetated area, in addition to providing shading from trees. These concrete- and asphaltladen areas typically have increased energy costs, air pollution levels, and heat-related illness and mortality.

The EPA found that brownfield redevelopment can reduce the amount of impervious surface expansion associated with urban sprawl by 73-80 percent, which can help preserve existing green spaces.³² One example of how brownfield redevelopment can be an economic and environmental boon is in the city of Atlanta, Georgia. A contaminated steel mill sat abandoned in midtown Atlanta. Facing rapid sprawl and disinvestment, the city cleaned up and redeveloped this brownfield, turning it into a mixed-use development now known as Atlantic Station. The redevelopment created affordable and upscale housing, new jobs, and entertainment and retail businesses.

The Atlantic Station site employed smart growth strategies that avoided new development and urban sprawl and its associated environmental and climate impacts. The site used less land than a conventional development but still provided the same amount of housing and commercial space. This land efficiency technique reduced annual stormwater runoff by almost 20 million cubic feet a year.³³ It also upgraded to a separated sewer system with modified catch basins for stormwater control, reducing the flow of pollutants from stormwater runoff into nearby water sources.

Superfund Sites

Improperly managed industrial and hazardous waste has left thousands of sites contaminated across the United States, including former landfills, toxic waste dumps, manufacturing facilities, processing plants, mining sites, and more. Similar to other degraded lands, these Superfund sites can be rehabilitated and restored into public parks, forests, grasslands, and other natural ecosystems that absorb and store atmospheric carbon.

For example, a seven-acre wetland was developed following the EPA's cleanup of the Bowers Landfill in Pickaway County, Ohio. Cleanup of the 12-acre site included removing contaminated waste, capping and venting the landfill, and re-vegetating the area.³⁴ The seven-acre wetland in the Scioto River floodplain has become a safe habitat for plants, birds, fish, and other wildlife and offers new recreational opportunities for the community. The restored land helps protect the landfill cap from flooding, reduces runoff, and traps carbon dioxide and other harmful greenhouse gasses. Wetlands have the ability to store a total of 11.5 gigatonnes of carbon, roughly equivalent to four years of annual U.S. carbon emissions.³⁵

At another project site in East Helena, Montana, a 700-acre site with a former lead smelter was revitalized and prepared for redevelopment. This site is now home to a new elementary school and future high school, a 300-home subdivision, and a County Search and Rescue facility. Additionally, over 180 acres of the Prickly Pear Creek floodplain and 80 acres of migratory bird habitat were restored, offering carbon sequestration and flood mitigation properties. The EPA determines which sites should undergo investigation and cleanup by identifying contaminated sites on its National Priorities List. With 73 million people living within 3 miles of a Superfund site, and 1,333 sites identified across the U.S. and its territories, these contaminated areas are also a public health and economic issue and disproportionately affect fenceline communities. In addition to natural restoration and carbon sequestration opportunities, these sites have the potential to become sites for renewable energy, housing, or recreational projects that can positively impact communities. Sufficient cleanup can result in improved air and water quality, lower bloodlead levels and birth defects in children, increased property values, job creation, recreational opportunities, and revenue to local businesses.³⁶

Much of the documented benefits of Superfund site reclamation are focused on public health and local economy, which make communities more resilient. However, a lack of sufficient documentation of the carbon storage potential of Superfund reclamation is apparent and requires attention.



The East Helena smelter, a Superfund site, in Montana before scheduled demolition. Photo: Ron Armstrong/Getty Images



A woman fly-fishing in the Arkansas River near Leadville, Colorado. Thirty years after being placed on the EPA's NPL, a 102-mile portion of this river was designated a gold medal trout stream, increasing recreational and guided tourism in the area. Skibreck/Getty Images

Economic Opportunities

nvestments in degraded land reclamation can help mitigate serious environmental damage, remove costly threats to public health, and sequester carbon. They also have clear economic benefits.

An analysis from the Ohio River Valley Institute found that cleaning up half of remaining AML damage in 10 years (a \$1.3 billion per year investment) would support more than 17,000 jobs, both direct (jobs to reclaim the minelands) and indirect (such as administration jobs).³⁷

Opportunities for economic and job growth are similar in the oil and gas industry. Skills attained in oil and gas industry jobs are transferable to reclamation jobs such as plugging abandoned wells. For example, the Ohio River Valley is a region highly affected by the decline of the oil and gas industry. Yet, well-plugging and remediation jobs would provide opportunities originating in the most distressed, low-income communities where there is high unemployment. It is important to note that ensuring any new reclamation and remediation jobs created are family-sustaining jobs, and accessible to those most in need, requires additional policy support.³⁸

The economic benefits of brownfield and Superfund site remediation mainly lie in increased property value, local tax revenue, and job growth—especially if local workers are hired in association with site cleanup. A 2017 study found that cleaning up brownfield properties led to residential property value increases of 5-15.2 percent within 1.29 miles of the sites.³⁹ If land cleanup and redevelopment increase property values, they can also increase the local property tax revenues. This can help yield additional funds for municipalities to provide better public services and education, yet it can also displace legacy residents by raising taxes and increasing green gentrification.⁴⁰ Policy tools and interventions to prevent the displacement of, and maximize the benefits for, legacy residents should be employed proactively, prioritizing the community's needs.

Superfund revitalization can also reduce storm management and recovery costs and attract tourism revenue.⁴¹ One example: the California Gulch Superfund site in Colorado boasts the attraction of over 100,000 anglers to its Gold Medal Trout Waters designated as part of cleanup efforts. Overnight travel spending generated \$30.5 million in revenue in 2021, just one year after a large portion of the site was removed from the National Priorities List of Superfund sites.

Renewable Energy on Degraded Lands

Developing renewable energy projects on degraded lands is another way these lands can be a climate solution. In a recent report, the EPA found that up to 774,000 megawatts of power could be generated on degraded lands using renewable technologies.⁴² Reusing these lands for renewable energy can help address the cleanup of contaminated sites as well as the necessary transition to clean energy.

There are environmental, regulatory, and technical barriers to overcome in building renewable energy on degraded lands, but also major synergies that can be exploited. For example, closed landfills may be a fitting location for new solar resources given their typical proximity to other infrastructure like roads, transmission lines, and population centers. Additionally, solar energy development at abandoned mines or Superfund sites has been found to help power groundwater remediation. Additional benefits include revenue growth and job creation for local communities and providing disenfranchised and rural communities better access to clean energy and corresponding air quality improvements. The EPA has mapped locations and renewable energy potential for contaminated lands, landfills, and mine sites through its RE-Powering America's Land Initiative.⁴³ The Department of Energy, meanwhile, is building out a new program⁴⁴ that will place clean energy demonstration projects on current or former mine lands.



The southern edge of a wetland created on the Atlas Track Superfund site in Fairhaven, Massachusetts. Photo: Danlogan/Getty Images

Community Benefits

hanks to the economic and climate benefits discussed above, investments in land reclamation can help support the overall revitalization of communities, particularly fossil fuel dependent communities. Oil, gas, and coal workers across Appalachia, the Rust Belt, and throughout the western U.S. have provided the electricity and materials that powered the American economy since the Industrial Revolution. We have a responsibility to ensure those communities are not left behind as our nation increasingly transitions to clean energy. Today, many of those communities and workers face poor health from pollution, structural barriers to economic opportunity, increasingly severe climate impacts, and more. Degraded land reclamation cannot solve all of these problems, but it is part of the overall solution and should be part of any suite of "energy transition" or "just transition" policies.

Investments in land reclamation can provide good, family-sustaining jobs-particularly for people in fossil fuel dependent communities, offering a chance to stay and work, instead of being forced to abandon the communities where their families have lived for generations. And these investments can help build local wealth in communities while addressing legacy pollution and improving public health. These benefits are only possible, however, if the investments are designed and implemented thoughtfully, with communities—especially frontline and fenceline communities—in the driver's seat. Additional resources and guidance here can be found in the National Economic Transition platform⁴⁵ and the BlueGreen Alliance National Energy Transition Policy Framework,⁴⁶ which articulate comprehensive policy needs to help support communities impacted by the transition away from fossil fuels.

Policy Recommendations

eclaiming degraded lands is often one of the most overlooked climate solutions. The National Wildlife Federation offers the following federal policy recommendations, which are focused on ensuring climate benefits of degraded lands reclamation. We acknowledge there are additional federal steps that can and should be taken to ensure land reclamation policies and investments are equitable, community-led, and economically beneficial to local communities. We also encourage policies that recognize the contributions to our national prosperity of the people most affected by the boom and bust cycle of extractive industries, to help ensure they have family-sustaining jobs and can continue to live and thrive in those communities, as we transition to a new clean-energy economy.

Abandoned Mine & Orphaned Well Clean-up

• Expand the goal of AML reclamation to include specific climate and environmental benefits. Recent Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement (OSMRE) guidance on the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law's AML grant implementation⁴⁷ specifies that states and Tribes should prioritize projects that deliver benefits to disadvantaged communities, and those that eliminate methane emissions to the greatest extent possible. This is a welcome step; strengthening the definition of reclamation would help ensure these investments are also working as a climate solution. For additional details, see "Repairing the Damage" by the Ohio River Valley Institute.⁴⁸ • Monitor abandoned mine land reclamation projects funded by the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law to ensure robust climate benefits of reclamation projects wherever possible. Building off of existing methane emissions reporting requirements, OSMRE could encourage collection of additional climate-related metrics, including estimates of carbon sequestration, in AML reporting from States and Tribes.

• Enact supplemental appropriations for remediation of contaminated areas including those on the National Priority List and abandoned mine sites, and restrict permitting for new projects that increase pollution in already overburdened communities.

• Support additional research and analysis on carbon sequestration and climate resilience potential on degraded lands. This could include providing funding to OSMRE for an assessment of the ability to use federally owned land and AMLs for carbon dioxide removal benefits and practices, including ecologically appropriate revegetation, reforestation, and restoration to natural landscapes, including grasslands. Additional funding should also support research on how former mine operations impact climate-induced flooding.

• Congress should appropriate funding for the Appalachian Region Reforestation Initiative (ARRI), a cooperative effort among OSMRE, state agencies, industry, environmental organizations, academia, and landowners. ARRI is a longstanding successful program dedicated to restoring forests on coalmined lands in the Eastern United States, and currently is funded via a patchwork of cost-share and private dollars.

• Congress should pass the Orphaned Well Cleanup and Jobs Act, which authorizes \$8 billion to plug and clean up orphaned wells while putting thousands of people to work.

• Congress should pass the Safeguarding Treatment for the Restoration of Ecosystems from Abandoned Mines (STREAM) Act, which authorizes states to set aside up to 30 percent of their annual Bipartisan Infrastructure Law abandoned mine land grant into an account for the treatment and abatement of acid mine drainage. The House passed the STREAM Act in August 2022, but the bill has yet to have a hearing in the Senate.

• Pass the Revitalize, Enhance, and Nurture in Expanded Ways Our Abandoned Mine Lands (RENEW) Act, which would provide backup funding to communities to create jobs by reclaiming abandoned mines and restoring water quality.

Pollution Remediation

• Congress should increase annual funding for Superfund clean-up to \$20 billion, for Superfund Emergency Response and Removal to \$840 million, and for Brownfield Redevelopment to \$3 billion.

• Pass and fully fund at \$56 billion over 10 years the Environmental Cleanup Infrastructure Act to devote an additional \$30 billion to Superfund sites.

• Include local impacts of climate change in Superfund site planning and remediation.

• Through 1872 Mining Law reform legislation, establish a national abandoned hardrock mine

clean-up program funded by industry fees. Supporting agency regulations and policies for such legislation must require reclamation and revegetation standards or directives to optimize carbon sequestration and climate resiliency outcomes.

Conclusion

ignificant funding for degraded land reclamation is already underway through the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law, passed in November 2021. This law allocates \$21 billion to reclamation efforts with funding falling into four major programs: \$11.3 billion for abandoned mine land reclamation; \$4.7 billion for orphaned oil and gas well plugging, remediation, and restoration; \$3.5 billion for Superfund site cleanup; and \$1.5 billion for brownfield remediation and revitalization. And the Inflation Reduction Act, signed into law in August 2022, reinstates the Superfund tax on oil and petroleum companies, which will provide additional funding to the EPA for Superfund cleanup. This historic funding will help improve the health, environment, and economy of communities. It is also an opportunity to make progress on climate.

The scope of America's degraded lands problem is vast, but so is the opportunity—to create new and restored forests and grasslands to sequester carbon, revitalize local economies, and remove ongoing threats to people and wildlife.

For inquiries, contact Jessica Arriens (<u>ArriensJ@nwf.org</u>) or Lindsay Kuczera (<u>KuczeraL@nwf.org</u>).

References

- 1. National Wildlife Federation. 2021. "Unnatural Disasters." National Wildlife Federation. <u>https://www.nwf.org/Our-Work/Environmental-Threats/Climate-Change/Disasters</u>
- 2. National Wildlife Federation. 2012. "The Psychological Effects of Global Warming." The National Wildlife Federation. <u>https://www.nwf.org/</u> Educational-Resources/Reports/2012/03-12-2012-Psychological-Effects-Global-Warming
- 3. Union of Concerned Scientists. 2016. "The Hidden Cost of Fossil Fuels: The true costs of coal, natural gas, and other fossil fuels aren't always obvious but their impacts can be disastrous." Union of Concerned Scientists. https://www.ucsusa.org/resources/hidden-costs-fossil-fuels
- Arriens, J, Bharath, P. 2021. "Reclaiming Degraded Lands for People and Wildlife." National Wildlife Federation. https://blog.nwf.org/2021/04/reclaiming-degraded-lands-for-
- people-and-wildlife/
 5. Manthos, David. 2015. "Mapping Abandoned Coal Mines." SkyTruth. https://skytruth.org/2015/10/mapping-abandoned-coal-mines/
- House Committee on Natural Resources. 2016. "Abandoned Mines." Natural Resources Committee. <u>https://naturalresources.house.gov/imo/media/doc/</u> Abandoned%20Mines.pdf
- 7. U.S. Government Accountability Office. 2020. "Mining on Federal Lands: More Than 800 Operations Authorized to Mine and Total Mineral Production Is Unknown." USGAO. https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-20-461r
- 8. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2021. "Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks 1990-2019." USEPA. <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/</u> <u>default/files/2021-04/documents/us-ghg-inventory-2021-main-text.pdf</u>
- Environmental Defense Fund. n.d. "Documenting orphan wells across the United States." *EDF*. <u>https://www.edf.org/orphanwellmap</u>
- 10. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2022. "Overview of EPA's Brownfield Program." USEPA. <u>https://www.epa.gov/brownfields/overview-epas-brownfields-program</u>
- 11. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2022. "Superfund: National Priorities List (NPLs)." USEPA. <u>https://www.epa.gov/superfund/superfund-national-priorities-list-npl</u>
- IPCC. 2022: Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, M. Tignor, E.S. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A. Alegría, M. Craig, S. Langsdorf, S. Löschke, V. Möller, A. Okem, B. Rama (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press. In Press. <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg2/</u>
- National Wildlife Federation. 2020. "Natural Climate Solutions: A Federal Policy Platform of the National Wildlife Federation." Washington, DC: National Wildlife Federation. <u>https://www.nwf.org/-/media/Documents/</u> PDFs/Environmental-Threats/Natural-Climate-Solutions-Policy-Platform
- 14. Ding, H., Faruqi, S., Gange, C., Ortega, A. 2017. "World Resource Institute. Restoration: One of the Most Overlooked Opportunities for Economic Growth." World Resources Institute. <u>https://www.wri.org/insights/</u> restoration-one-most-overlooked-opportunities-economic-growth
- Lal, Rattan, and Ussiri, David. 2008. "Assessing Fossil and New Carbon in Reclaimed Mined Soils." The Ohio State University Research Foundation, United States. <u>https://www.osti.gov/servlets/purl/947102</u>
- 16. D. Ussiri and R. Lal, "Land Management Effects on Carbon Sequestration and Soil Properties in Reclaimed Farmland of Eastern Ohio, USA.," *Open Journal of Soil Science*, Vol. 3 No. 1, 2013, pp. 46-57. doi: 10.4236/ojss.2013.31006.
- 17. Chaudhuri, Sriroop1; Pena-Yewtukhiw, Eugenia M.1; McDonald, Louis M.1; Skousen, Jeffrey1; Sperow, Mark2 "Early C Sequestration Rate Changes for Reclaimed Minesoils." *Soil Science*: July 2012 - Volume 177 - Issue 7 p 443-450 doi: 10.1097/SS.0b013e318254494d
- 18. Op cit. 16
- 19. David A. N. Ussiri & Rattan Lal (2005) "Carbon Sequestration in Reclaimed Minesoils, Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences", 24:3, 151-165, DOI: <u>10.1080/07352680591002147</u>
- 20. Swab, Rebecca M., Nicola Lorenz, Nathan R. Lee, Steven W. Culman, and Richard P. Dick. 2020. "From the Ground Up: Prairies on Reclaimed Mine Land—Impacts on Soil and Vegetation." *Land 9*, no. 11: 455. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/land9110455</u>
- 21. Dixon, Erin. 2021. "Repairing the Damage: Cleaning up the land, air, and water damaged by the coal industry before 1977." *Ohio River Valley Institute*. <u>https://ohiorivervalleyinstitute.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/AML-Report-Dixon-ORVI-V1.1-4.pdf</u>
- 22. Op cit. 21 23. Op cit. 21

- Bruggers, James. 2019. "Appalachia's Strip-Mined Mountains Face a Growing Climate Risk: Flooding. Inside Climate." Inside Climate News. <u>https://insideclimatenews.org/news/21112019/appalachia-mountains-flood-risk-climate-change-coal-mining-west-virginia-extreme-rainfall-runoff-analysis/</u>
- Haneberg, William C. 2022. "Director's statement on eastern Kentucky flooding." Kentucky Geological Survey. <u>https://www.uky.edu/KGS/news/2022_flooding.php</u>
 Op cit. 8
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2022. "Understanding Global Warming Potentials." USEPA. <u>https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/understanding-globalwarming-potentials</u>
- Daniel Raimi, Alan J. Krupnick, Jhih-Shyang Shah, and Alexandra Thompson.
 "Decommissioning Orphaned and Abandoned Oil and Gas Wells: New Estimates and Cost Drivers," Environmental Science & Technology 2021 55 (15), 10224-1023
- Haden Chomphosy, W., Varriano, S., Lefler, L.H. *et al*. Ecosystem services benefits from the restoration of non-producing US oil and gas lands. *Nat Sustain* 4, 547–554 (2021). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-021-00689-4</u>
- M. Ehsan Jorat, Mark A. Goddard, Peter Manning, Hiu Kwan Lau, Samuel Ngeow, Saran P. Sohi, David A.C. Manning. "Passive CO2 removal in urban soils: Evidence from brownfield sites," *Science of The Total Environment*, Volume 703, 2020, 135573, ISSN 0048-9697, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135573.
- Nissim, W.G. and Labrecque, M. 2021."Reclamation of urban brownfields through phytoremediation: Implications for building sustainable and resilient towns." Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, Volume 65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> ufug.2021.127364.
- 32. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2022. "Brownfield Program Environmental and Economic Benefits." USEPA. <u>https://www.epa.gov/brownfields/brownfieldsprogram-environmental-and-economic-benefits</u>
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2021. "Atlantic Station (Atlantic Steel Site Redevelopment Project" USEPA. <u>https://www.epa.gov/smartgrowth/atlanticstation-atlantic-steel-site-redevelopment-project</u>
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. n.d. "Bowers Landfill Circleville, OH: Cleanup Activities." USEPA. <u>https://cumulis.epa.gov/supercpad/SiteProfiles/index.</u> <u>cfm?fuseaction=second.cleanup&id=0504541</u>
- Nahlik, A., Fennessy, M. "Carbon storage in US wetlands." Nat Commun 7, 13835 (2016). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms13835</u>
- 36. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2021. "Superfund FY 2020." EPA 904/R21/001 <u>https://semspub.epa.gov/work/HQ/100002803.pdf</u>
- 37. Op cit. 21
- 38. Op cit. 21
- Sullivan, K. 2017. "Brownfields Remediation: Impact on Local Residential Property Tax Revenue." Journal of Environmental Assessment Policy and Management. DOI 1750013 19 03 10.1142/S1464333217500132.
- https://www.worldscientific.com/doi/abs/10.1142/S1464333217500132
- Jelks, Na'Taki Osborne, Viniece Jennings, and Alessandro Rigolon. 2021. "Green Gentrification and Health: A Scoping Review." International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 18, no. 3: 907. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18030907</u>
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2022. "The Superfund Program: Protecting Healthy Communities, Advancing Environmental Protection." USEPA. <u>https://www.epa.gov/superfund/superfund-program-protecting-healthy-communities-advancing-environmental-protection</u>
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2022. "Re-Powering America's Land Initiative: Re-Powering Mapper Fact Sheet." USEPA. <u>https://www.epa.gov/system/ files/documents/2022-04/re_powering_mapper_factsheet.pdf</u>
- 43. Op cit. 42
- 44. U.S. Department of Energy. 2022. "Biden Administration Launches \$500 Million Program to Transform Mines Into New Clean Energy Hubs." United States Department of Energy. <u>https://www.energy.gov/articles/biden-administration-launches-500-million-program-transform-mines-new-clean-energy-hubs</u>
- Just Transition Fund. 2020. "National Economic Transition Platform." Just Transition Fund. <u>https://nationaleconomictransition.org/</u>
- 46. BlueGreen Alliance. 2021. "Bluegreen Alliance National Transition Policy Framework." BlueGreen Alliance. <u>https://www.bluegreenalliance.org/resources/ bluegreen-alliance-national-energy-transition-policy-framework0/</u>
- Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement. 2022. "Guidance on the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law Abandoned Mine Land Grant Implementation." Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement. <u>https://www.osmre.gov/</u> sites/default/files/inline-files/BIL_AML_Guidance_7-19-22.pdf
- 48. Op cit. 21



National Wildlife Federation 1200 G Street, NW, Suite 900 Washington, D.C. 20005 www.nwf.org